MILESTONES

ACHIEVED

Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership

2012 ANNUAL REPORT TO UNITHOLDERS

We are pleased to provide you with this report on the
activities of Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership
(“NVDLP” or “the Partnership”) for 2012. Included herewith
are financial statements as at and for the year ended
December 31, 2012, along with comparable results for the
year ended December 31, 2011, which have been audited by
BDO Canada LLP.
An annual meeting for the Partnership will be held at 5:00 pm
on Thursday May 23, 2013 at the Coast High Country Inn
in Whitehorse, Yukon. We invite all interested stakeholders
to attend this meeting to receive an update on the progress of the
Partnership and information about our future plans. In order
to accommodate shareholders who do not live in Whitehorse or
who cannot attend this meeting, we will hold a follow up meeting
in Calgary, at 5:00 pm on Thursday, May 30, 2013 in the main
boardroom at the offices of Prairie Merchant Corporation,
Suite 700, 933 Seventeenth Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta.

TABLE OF CONTENTS
| Overview and Background

2

| Highlights for 2012

4

| CEO’s Letter to Unitholders

7

| Chairman’s Message

12

| Report on Operations

14

| Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Results

24

| Financial Statements and Notes

32

OVERVIEW AND

BACKGROUND

NVDLP CONCLUDED A COMPREHENSIVE
RESTRUCTURING TRANSACTION IN ORDER TO
AMEND THE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT
AND PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ORIGINAL INVESTORS.

NVDLP, a private real estate partnership, was established in February 2004 with a mandate to acquire properties with strong
growth prospects located in Whitehorse, Yukon. Since inception, the Partnership has acquired, and partially developed or sold, a
diverse base of commercial, residential, industrial and hospitality properties that provide regular cash flow and capital appreciation
for unitholders. NVDLP is managed by its general partner, Northern Vision Development Corp., a private company based in
Whitehorse and formed under the laws of the Yukon. The operations of the Partnership are overseen by a board of directors
comprised of individuals with a diverse mix of skill sets and experience in the real estate and hospitality industries.

During 2012 NVDLP concluded a comprehensive restructuring transaction in order to amend the Limited Partnership Agreement
and provide liquidity to original investors, while simultaneously allowing new investors to join the Partnership. This transaction
involved the cancelation of 12,260,287 original units of the Partnership and the issuance of 21,029,970 new units. Consequently,
as at December 31, 2012 there were 21,029,970 new units of the Partnership issued and outstanding with no options or purchase
warrants issued. During the year, a total of $2.75 million was distributed to Limited Partners as a return of capital. At the completion
of the Liquidity Event on September 7, 2012, the units were valued at $1.90 per unit. Due to the recent timing of that transaction, no
third party update on asset values has been completed as at December 31, 2012. In past years, a table of estimated Net Asset Value
per unit was provided. As all units issued by the Partnership are now identical, this table is no longer relevant.
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HIGHLIGHTS

FOR 2012

During 2012 the Board and Management of
the Partnership focused on generating gains
from NVDLP’s Waterfront development
projects, continuing the pace of sales
associated with the Titanium Way Business
Park, ensuring strong performance from the
Hotel Division, and successfully completing
the Limited Partnership amendments and
Liquidity Event.

$45.8 MILLION
TOTAL ASSETS OF THE PARTNERSHIP

The following were the OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS for the year:
» Successful completion of the Liquidity Event which
involved: receiving unanimous unitholder support
for amendments to the Limited Partnership;
completion of an Issuer Bid in a manner that
provided liquidity for unitholders; and raising
sufficient funds to support the Liquidity Event
through a private placement;
» Completion of the River’s Reach Condominium
including sale of 80% of the units;
» Substantial completion of the 44,000 square foot
Waterfront Station retail/commercial condominium
and sale or lease of 70% of the available space;
» Sale of the equivalent of seven averaged-sized lots
in the Titanium Way Business Park;
» Acquisition of the former Canadian Tire Building in
a prime location in Whitehorse;
» Announcement of the adoption of the Coast Hotel
brand for the High Country Inn and Convention
Centre which now operates as the Coast High
Country Inn;
» Completion of Phase II and commencement of Phase III
of the High Country Inn renovation project;
» Sale of the non-strategic Trade Centre II
Condominium in Titanium Way; and
» Partial lease up of the new Selkirk JV project in
Titanium Way.
The following is a summary of the Partnership’s KEY FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS for the year:
» Raised $14.4 million through a private placement,
providing $12.8 million to meet subscriptions
tendered under the Partnership’s Issuer Bid

» Distributed $2.75 million to Unitholders;
» Negotiated and put in place a total of $10.2 million
in new long-term debt financing of which $7.5 million
replaced existing mortgages and $2.7 million
was used for acquisition of new projects and for
capital projects;
» Net Book Value of total assets of the Partnership
increased by 16.7% since December 31, 2011,
from $38.7 million ($39.4 million restated) to
$45.8 million.
» Gross revenues of the Partnership increased by
11.2% from $11.6 million in 2011 to $12.9 million
in 2012, driven by the inclusion of income from
development properties in 2012;
» Six Titanium Way Business Park lots were sold for
total gains from assets held for sale of $602,000
($574,000 in 2011 of which $407,000 was from
Titanium Way lot sales and $167,000 was from sales
of the remaining Heights condominium inventory);
» Recorded Income from operations of $1.6 million,
a 47.7% increase over the $1.1 million recorded
in 2011, driven by the inclusion for the first
time of income associated with the sale of
development properties;
» Recorded a 44.9% increase in net income to $2.9
million, up from the $2.0 million recorded in 2011;
» Recorded gains from sale on new development
assets of $608,000 (nil in 2011); and
» Substantially increased revenues from income on
loans provided to tenants and partners to $87,000
from $18,000 in 2011 as a result of loans related to
development activities.

transaction, and providing additional working
capital and acquisition funds to the Partnership;
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$12.8 MILLION
GROSS REVENUE
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Net income jumped to $2.9 million due to inclusion for the first time of income associated
with development activities.

Gross revenue continued to improve, assisted by the inclusion of development related revenues,
but also due to stronger revenue performance from the hotel division.
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Income from operations rose substantially during the year due to the inclusion of income
from development activities for the first time. Income from operations related to NVDLP’s
two historical divisions – hotels and rental properties actually declined for the year due to
decreased margin performance in the hotel division and some vacancies in the rental division.

The pace of asset growth quickened in 2012, reflecting the use of new equity to purchase the
former Canadian Tire Building and the development of waterfront assets.

LETTER TO

UNITHOLDERS

Dear Unitholders:
The title of this year’s Annual Report to Unitholders
is “Milestones Achieved”. This recognizes the critical
achievements during the past year that represent the
culmination of years of effort. By reaching these milestones,
we not only allowed long time Limited Partners to exit the
Partnership with a reasonable gain on their investment,
we also continued the strengthening of our balance sheet,
the growth of our asset base and the broadening of our
management team. It was a very successful year for the
Partnership and I am pleased to be able to report these
results to our unitholders.
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Milestone One: The Liquidity Transaction

$14.36 million through the issuance of 7,555.592 new

Perhaps most visible to unitholders was the completion of

units of the Partnership at a price of $1.90 per unit. After

the comprehensive Liquidity Event. This was actually three

transaction costs, which were primarily covered by the

related and equally important events: (a) the unanimous

discount associated with the Issuer Bid units, we raised a

acceptance by Unitholders of important amendments to the

net of $1.96 million for the Partnership and issued a net

Limited Partnership Agreement; (b) the completion of

of 1,029,931 new Partnership units beyond the number

a successful Private Placement that supported the Issuer
Bid; and (c) the completion of the Issuer Bid transaction
that allowed those unitholders seeking liquidity to sell
their units back to the Partnership. The net result of this
three step process was to provide us with a more efficient
structure, reduce the number of partners and allow exit for
those seeking it, and strengthen the balance sheet with the
introduction of additional equity into the Partnership.

required to match those tendered in the Issuer Bid. At the
completion of the transaction the Partnership had exactly
100 unitholders and a total of 21,029,970 units outstanding.
Milestone Two: Waterfront Development
When NVDLP was established in 2004, a primary objective
was to acquire and develop strategic lands on the Yukon
River waterfront. Initially we held off on development

As always, our unitholders demonstrated their engagement.

efforts as we focused on improving the areas immediately

Fully 78% voted on the proposed amendments to the Limited

surrounding our core lands. Subsequently, we held off

Partnership Agreement, giving it their unanimous support.

as the economic conditions did not appear to support

This not only paved the way for the Issuer Bid, it also

profitable development activities. In 2010 the economic

allowed us to simplify the Partnership structure in a manner

indicators began to shift and, as we reported in our 2011

that aligns all interests going forward. The simplification

annual report, we embarked on important development

has the obvious benefit of eliminating the various categories

activities on our core lands.

of units, but it also makes future Liquidity Events easier to
manage, while also making it easier for the Partnership to
raise new equity should circumstance dictate such a move is
in the interest of unitholders. Our Governance Chair, Myron
Tetreault, led the efforts to design a simplified structure and
Bennett Jones LLP provided the expert advice to ensure
that the restructuring was done in the most effective way
possible. We were pleased that all of these changes were
adopted by vote on July 26, 2012 and that they went into
effect with the rationalization of the GP and LP structure,

The first phase of these activities involved the delivery of a
standard-setting 20-unit luxury residential condominium
development and an iconic 44,000 square foot commercial/
retail condominium development. The River’s Reach
residential project, a joint venture with Ketza Group in
which NVDLP owns a 90% interest, was completed in
June 2012 with 80% of the units sold by December 2012.
The Waterfront Station commercial project, a 50/50 joint

effective September 1, 2012.

venture with Ketza Group, was substantially completed by

The follow on Issuer Bid saw a total of 58 unitholders

leased or sold. While this commercial project has suffered

either fully or partially tender an aggregate of 6,525,881

from delivery delays and increased costs, it remains a

new units of the Partnership worth a cumulative $11.81

profitable project as well as being a statement with respect

million at $1.81 per unit. At the same time we raised

to NVDLP’s intentions for the Whitehorse waterfront.

December 2012 with approximately 70% of the units either

AT THE COMPLETION OF THE LIQUIDITY
TRANSACTION THE PARTNERSHIP HAD
EXACTLY 100 UNITHOLDERS AND A TOTAL OF
21,029,970 UNITS OUTSTANDING.

Both projects began to contribute to income and gains on

our vision through undertaking tenant fit up work that has

land sales in 2012 and both will continue to do so in 2013

created spaces second to none in Whitehorse. We are very

as we seek to complete the sales and leasing programs.

fortunate to have these owners and tenants as partners.

Much of the development income associated with Waterfront
Station will not be recognized until 2013 when many of the

Milestone Three: Acquisition of the Former Canadian Tire Store

sales close. NVDLP and its builder partner, Ketza Group,

Those familiar with Whitehorse will recognize the former

have received much recognition in Whitehorse for the

Canadian Tire store as a well located eyesore. It has sat empty

development of these two landmark projects. Waterfront

for a number of years, with the Whitehorse community hopeful

Station in particular has attracted significant attention due

that someone would undertake a redevelopment effort.

to its highly visible location and unique design. While both
have contributed one time gains to the Partnership, by
retaining a joint venture interest in approximately 50% of the
Waterfront Station project as rental units, Waterfront Station
will contribute meaningfully to the growth of income from
our rental property division in the future.
It is not an easy task to build and sell these types of projects
in Whitehorse, where an established practice associated with
pre-selling condominiums is not well established. The fact

In late 2012, as a result of the efforts made by our
Development Chair Hannes Kovac, we were able to close a
deal on this property on terms we felt were favourable. We
immediately commenced work on the redevelopment of this
54,000 square foot building with ample parking and an ideal
location. Through the first quarter of 2013 we undertook an
aggressive leasing effort, attracting a lot of interest in the
building. As we write this report we are about to tender the
redevelopment project with construction expected to start by
May 2013 and tenancies in place later in the year.

that we have been successful is testament to the efforts of
a lot of very committed people and companies. The NVDLP

This project adds substantial rental inventory to NVDLP’s

management team deserves credit for their tireless efforts

portfolio and will help us rebalance the size of our rental

on these projects as does Piers McDonald, the Chairman of

activities, relative to our hotel activities which has seen

our Board who originally envisioned these developments,

substantial organic growth over the past few years. Our vision

and who assisted in many ways with the effort. We also

has always been to be a substantial landlord in Whitehorse

thank Hannes Kovac, the Chairman of the Development

and with the addition in particular of Waterfront Station and

Committee of the Board, who has been actively involved in

Canadian Tire, we have significantly increased the size of our

these projects. The developments would not be what they are
without the design expertise of Whitehorse-based architect,
Mary Ellen Read of Northern Front Studio, who was involved
with both projects, Calgary-based Abugov Kaspar, the
architects responsible for River’s Reach, and Ketza Group,
a builder committed to quality construction and a valued
partner on both projects. Finally we thank the purchasers of
condominiums and the tenants in our commercial project.
They showed faith by buying into concepts and have shared
The former Canadian Tire building will be the focus of redevelopment efforts in 2013.
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THE WATERFRONT STATION COMMERCIAL PROJECT, A 50/50
JOINT VENTURE WITH KETZA GROUP, WAS SUBSTANTIALLY
COMPLETED BY DECEMBER 2012 WITH APPROXIMATELY
70% OF THE UNITS EITHER LEASED OR SOLD.

rental portfolio. From 2014 forward this should allow us to

which might provide a potential Partnership with a Tr’ondëk

see a much higher level of cash flow from this division, which

Hwëch’in entity. These new investors have not only shown

will support our unitholder distribution program.

tremendous faith in NVDLP, they have also allowed us to
broaden the scope of the opportunities we are evaluating

A Very Busy Year

within the Yukon. We look forward to building on these

While the key activities were underway, all of our normal

partnerships going forward, and to broaden our geographic

business had to be attended to. We saw revenues in our Hotel

operating footprint as a result.

Division increase, but unfortunately we did not experience
margin growth as a result. Part of this was the result of

The Economy

the start-up costs associated with new food and beverage

The Yukon economy appeared to be taking a breather over

facilities. The opening of our Morel’s Restaurant in the

the last half of 2012 and into 2013. The mining exploration

High Country Inn added more than $100,000 in revenue

activity dropped significantly and there was a resultant drop

during the year, but is not yet contributing margin. I am

in interest in the commercial/industrial lands we have for

delighted with the quality of this new restaurant and with

sale in the Titanium Way Business Park. However there are

the improvements made to the High Country Inn Deck, and

many experts who anticipate that the short term impact of

the food service at the Gold Pan Saloon. Our drop in margin

the mining exploration activity will be more than replaced

was in part due to investment in product which will pay off

by the more sustained impact from the opening of operating

in future years. However it was also in part due to increases

mines in Yukon, which are anticipated to take place over

in costs such as energy, which will pressure future margin

the coming years, commencing as early as 2014. If these

growth. We have kicked off important cost saving initiatives

operations are opened according to expectations, we would

in late 2012 and this will be a critical focus throughout 2013.

expect the demand to resume for our commercial/industrial
lot inventory within the next 12 to 24 months.

First Nation Support
The completion of the private placement resulted in three

Another factor impacting rental property performance in

new large unitholders: Tr’ondëk Hwëch’in Trust, Ta’an

Whitehorse is capacity related. NVDLP was not the only

Kwach’an Council and Carcross Tagish First Nation Daanaa

developer reacting to the demand that had emerged due

Jili (Cache) Trust. These entities, which are associated with

to a strong economy. Other commercial and residential

three distinct Yukon First Nations, are based in Dawson,

condominium projects were constructed in the 2010-2012

Whitehorse and Carcross respectively. As part of the

period significantly increasing the available inventory. Similar

investment we were provided with the opportunity to partner

new development activity took place in the commercial sector.

with these first nations on projects of interest to them. This

Predictably, people have moved into new build projects and out

has led us to some attractive opportunities. At the writing of

of existing projects creating vacancies in all rental portfolios

this report we have concluded a deal with Carcross Tagish

including our own. It will take some time for the additional

First Nation to be a 50/50 partner in the building and leasing

inventory to be absorbed and the NVDLP management team

of a Visitor Reception Centre in Carcross, and we are in early

will be redoubling leasing efforts during this time in order to

stage discussions on an interesting opportunity in Dawson

ensure we find tenants for all of our locations.

Committed Employees and Board

and time commitment in that area is impactful; Trevor

The development activities and other tasks of the past year

Harding, an original founder of NVDLP, worked on the

put substantial strain on our staff. We have responded by

governance committee - his close ties with original investors

building the NVDLP management team. November 2012

was helpful in generating feedback and ideas related to

marked the first anniversary of Philip Fitzgerald’s role

the liquidity transaction; Ian McAuley continues to provide

as COO/CFO and his contribution during the important

insightful guidance to our hotel division where his input is

milestone events of 2012 was significant. In particular he

greatly appreciated; and, part way through the year we were

played a critical role in the success of our private placement

delighted to welcome Brian Titus to the board - providing us

activities. Toward the end of the year we hired Taylor Love

with important additional insight into the First Nations while

and Murray Arsenault joined us in early 2013. Both have

adding accounting and financial experience.

substantially boosted our ability to support the development
activities underway as well as to assess potential acquisitions.

We were pleased to make a distribution of $2.75 million in

The return of Breanna Belyan (now Breanna Muir) from

December 2012, which was up by just over a million dollars

her leave was a welcome event, and substantially improves

compared to the distribution of $1.7 million made in each

our property management team. With the group we now

of 2010 and 2011. While the substantial activities of 2013

have in place, we are in position to support our growth in a

will put strain on our cash flow, our commitment to regular

professional and disciplined manner. We are lucky to have

distributions remains in place and we will seek to continue to

attracted such a high quality team to join those committed

make regular distributions that grow over time in step with

members already in place.

increases in Available Funds from Operations (“AFFO”).

As always our board was both active and tireless in their

A final note – as always, this past year we were the recipient

contributions. I have already mentioned the work of those

of tremendous support from a committed board of directors,

directly involved in leading work to achieve key milestones.

and the patience and guidance of many unitholders. We are

Our other board members have also worked tirelessly to

lucky to have the support we are provided, and we thank

achieve the key milestones and other goals: Stanley Noel

you all for it here. Thanks to all of our stakeholders for their

now sits as Chair of the Audit Committee and his leadership

support in 2012.
Sincerely,
Northern Vision Development LP

Richard S. Thompson
CEO, Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership
The growing NVDLP management team pictured here in our new Waterfront Station office.
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CHAIRMAN’S

MESSAGE
The past year saw NVDLP set new
benchmarks for performance and the
accomplishment of a number of long
term objectives. It has likely been
the busiest year in the history of the
Partnership as it took two signature
developments on the Whitehorse
waterfront, River’s Reach and
Waterfront Station, to near completion.

NVDLP ENJOYS A SOLID REPUTATION
IN PROVIDING GOOD RETURNS FOR INVESTORS
AND IN BUILDING THE YUKON ECONOMY
FOR THE BENEFIT OF EVERYONE.

The two flagship hotel properties: Best Western Gold Rush

Myron Tetreault, Stanley Noel, Trevor Harding, Hannes Kovac,

Inn and the (now) Coast High Country Inn continued to

Ian McAuley and Rich Thompson sitting on the board. Late

perform well despite a softening of the local economy in the

in the year we welcomed Brian Titus.

last half of the year. The hotel management team continues
to innovate and respond to local economic conditions in a

NVDLP not only enjoys a solid reputation in providing good

way which builds confidence that these properties can be

returns for its investors and in building the Yukon economy

relied upon to perform well in the long term.

for the benefit of everyone it also assists in improving the
lives of Yukon people through corporate sponsorships

Significantly NVDLP sought new investment to strengthen

and donations. We believe that we do our best when the

the balance sheet and to allow some long time investors an

community is healthy and vibrant and NVDLP has always

opportunity to depart under fair circumstances. I would like

recognized the role it can and should play in this effort.

to welcome all new investors who have made the choice
to join our team and, in particular, welcome Tr’ondëk

We look forward to 2013 as there are already signals

Hwëch’in Trust, Ta’an Kwach’an Council, and Carcross

that there will be good opportunities for the business to

Tagish First Nation’s Daanaa Jili Trust. This effort has

prosper. The Board of Directors, CEO and the management

resulted in an ever greater percentage of our investors being

team and all of our able and competent staff will meet the

based in the Yukon. It is an example of a growing trend

challenges the new year brings and commit to providing

whereby northern people are increasingly investing in their

excellent services for our customers and prosperity for our

own economy.

business partners.

NVDLP continues to enjoy the services and support of an

Sincerely,

efficient and competent management team led by our CEO,

Northern Vision Development LP

Rich Thompson. There is no doubt that our success and
growing reputation in the north is due to the dedication and
business experience shown by the company’s management
group and the inspired leadership that Rich provides.

Piers McDonald
Chairman, Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership

We have also benefited from the wise counsel and direction
provided by a seasoned Board of Directors. Their business
acumen and the hands on experience acquired from their
day jobs has proven invaluable in identifying and securing
business opportunities for the Partnership. With proven
track records in company oversight we have directors
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REPORT ON
OPERATIONS

Report on Operations
The chart below provides key metrics relating to operations of the Partnership’s business segments.
Key Activities in 2012
PROPERTY MANAGEMENT/OTHER
Percentage leased at year end
Operating Revenue

$

Gains from Sales
Net Income

2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

91%

100%

100%

98.6%

100%

1,410,455

$

1,420,909

$

326,580

3,674

1,531,762

$

N/A

1,529,211

$

1,608,596

N/A

N/A

$

569,226

$

925,051

$

587,858

$

479,150

$

362,911

Revenue

$

10,515,792

$

10,063,730

$

9,234,722

$

8,401,587

$

7,526,083

Net Income (Loss)

$

1,158,589

$

1,410,416

$

494,677

$

260,363

$

(494,725)

$

862,393

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

HOTEL DIVISION

DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES
Revenue
Gains from Sales
Net Income

-

608,051
$

1,470,444

$

18,375

$

-

-

-

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

22,500

$

-

$

-

$

-

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
Revenue

$

Gains from Sales
Net Income

573,887

602,334
$

620,719

$

-

-

587,374

$

-

$

-

-

$

-

GENERAL
Operating Expenses

$

950,841

$

987,350

$

743,514

$

864,523

$

918,156

Income from Operations

$

1,576,232

$

1,067,490

$

331,908

$

(125,010)

$

(1,049,974)

Weighted Average cost of debt

5.16%

4.18%

4.19%

3.78%

4.81%

Note: As the Partnership now makes significant income and gains associated with more than just the two traditional business segments, it has added new business segments to this chart as contrasted
to previous annual reports. This makes comparison to the data from 2010 and prior more difficult, but it provides better insight into the source of income from the various business segments. The 2011
results have been reallocated to conform to the business segments presented here.

Overall, income from operations showed a strong increase

which were up over 47% over 2011. While there were many

over 2011, driven by the recognition of income from the

positive steps taken in the Hotel Division during the year, and

Partnership’s development activities for the first time. These

revenues were up, the division delivered disappointing net

activities have been a major focus of NVDLP since early 2011,

income results which were off 18% from the previous year.

but have led to the recognition of both income and gains for

The key drivers of cost and revenue increases are discussed

the first time in 2012. This new income source accounted

in Management’s Discussion and Analysis. This section of the

for most of the growth in income from operations in 2012,

report focuses on a review of operations.
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MANAGEMENT IS FOCUSED ON ACHIEVING STRONG RESULTS
FROM ITS LEASING PROGRAM IN 2013, AND IF SUCCESSFUL,
THIS DIVISION WILL PROVIDE MUCH LARGER SUSTAINED
CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE PARTNERSHIP’S AVAILABLE FUNDS
FROM OPERATIONS IN 2014 AND BEYOND.

I. HOTELS DIVISION
Continuing Renovations, New Flag at High Country, Strong
performance from the Gold Rush Inn.
Despite the closure of the High Country Inn & Convention
Centre for all of January 2012 in order to accommodate
renovation activity, revenues for the combined Hotel Division
were up for the year by more than $450,000 to $10.5 million.
This was due primarily to growth in average daily rates
in the rooms division, and assisted by the introduction of
Morel’s Restaurant, a renovated food and beverage outlet at
the High Country Inn in the first quarter of 2012.
As noted, net income dropped during the year despite the
increase in revenue. In 2013 a number of cost management
programs will target this margin erosion. Areas of particular
focus include energy cost management through usage
reduction, tighter control on repairs and maintenance
spending, improvement on food and beverage margins
through identification of labour synergies and a continuing
focus on food cost, and a focus on continuing increases in
Average Daily Rates (“ADR”) assisted by the adoption of the
Coast brand for the High Country Inn. There is potential for
strong revenue growth at the Coast High Country, leveraging
the Coast brand and recent and planned renovations to drive
up both occupancy and ADR.
Competitive Environment and the Coast Brand Adoption Decision
As reported in the 2011 annual report, the 2012 year opened
with High Country Inn Phase II renovations in full swing.
This was part of the continuing effort to stimulate occupancy
and ADR growth at this property, which was not performing
at the same level as the Best Western Gold Rush Inn. In
2011 the High Country achieved bottom line performance
expectations for the first time under NVDLP ownership;
however results in 2012, on the heels of the completion

of the major capital upgrade program, were somewhat
disappointing. At the same, time competitive pressures were
emerging in the marketplace.
During the year Holland America announced that it had sold
its seasonal hotel – the 100-room Klondike Inn. Management
views the Klondike as a competitor to the High Country
Inn, as it enjoys a similar “secondary” location and is of
comparable size and quality. The new owners announced
their intention to rebrand the Klondike Inn under the
Ramada banner, and to run it year round, thereby increasing
the room inventory in the off-season. The introduction of
an international brand in the Whitehorse market and the
opening of this property year round were both negative
competitive developments for NVDLP.
Given that the renovation program and increased marketing
efforts were not assisting the High Country Inn in reaching
expected performance levels, management recommended
that the Coast brand be adopted for the High Country. The
Coast brand provided access to new clientele, improved rate
management strategies, and provided additional competitive
strength given the introduction of another international
brand in the marketplace. With approval from the board,
the Coast brand was adopted in January 2013, and the High
Country Inn & Convention Centre became the Coast High
Country. In April/May 2013 the property will adopt the new
brand program being announced and rolled out by Coast at
that time across its entire hotel network. Early indicators are
that this move is likely to have a positive impact on both ADR
and occupancy levels going forward.
The Hotel Division has continued to perform well overall,
and NVDLP has developed a clear positioning as a hospitality
service leader in Whitehorse. This positioning has allowed
management to seek synergies in the marketplace, and in April
2013 the Partnership announced its intention to purchase
the 32-room Edgewater Hotel along with its related Food and
Beverage assets – The Cellar Room and the Edge Lounge.

Going Forward: There are some further renovations required
to meet Coast Hotel brand standards. These renovations
will be completed in 2013 and 2014. The Edgewater Hotel
will be amalgamated into the overall hotel division in 2013,
and all three properties will benefit from a focus on margin
improvement, energy use management, and the identification
of further synergies. It is the intention of management to
combine the laundry facilities for all three properties in
The Partnership entered into an intent to purchase the Edgewater Hotel in the first quarter
of 2013.

2013 which will not only save costs, but will also provide
opportunities for additional revenue in this area.

Edgewater Acquisition
The Partnership had bid $3.5 million for this property when

II. RENTAL PROPERTY DIVISION

it was offered for sale in 2008. At that time another group
successfully purchased it for $4.2 million. Since then the

The performance of the Rental Property Division was down

property has suffered from competing food and beverage

slightly from 2011 with both revenues and net income

operations being opened immediately beside the hotel, and it

contribution before gains declining marginally from the

has seen margins from its food and beverage outlets erode.

previous year.

NVDLP has entered into a purchase and sale agreement to
purchase the assets for $3.25 million and plans to take over

The softening in this division was driven by an over-supply of

operation of this hotel on June 1, 2013.

commercial real estate in the City of Whitehorse. Responding
to the strong mining growth and the spending of exploration

The Edgewater Hotel is complementary to NVDLP’s

companies in the 2009-2011 period, NVDLP and other

existing hotels, offering similar quality rooms in a boutique

builder/developers in Whitehorse began building new

hotel environment. The Partnership will utilize existing

properties in Whitehorse for the first time in years. The result

management to operate the property, and expects to achieve

was an oversupply of commercial real estate which now

certain synergies as a result of the acquisition. In particular

has to be absorbed. New projects included not only River’s

the Edgewater’s Main Street location makes it an excellent

Reach, Waterfront Station and Titanium Way industrial

overflow hotel for the Best Western Gold Rush. NVDLP’s

commercial properties built by NVDLP and its partners, but

shuttle service can easily accommodate the addition of the

also a good number of commercial, residential and industrial

Edgewater Hotel. Finally it is the Partnerships’ intent to

projects built by competitors.

give full consideration to leasing out the food and beverage
operations which will de-risk that acquisition of additional

Consequently, NVDLP operated for the entire year with

food and beverage properties.

vacancies in its lease portfolio. The Titanium Way properties
were particularly soft, with Titanium Way 170 having more

The Edgewater Acquisition will bring the Partnership’s hotel

than a third of its available space become vacant during the

room inventory to 214 rooms in Whitehorse. NVDLP will

year, net of some re-leasing activity, and Titanium Way 166

continue to assess strategic growth opportunities that make

remaining approximately half leased for most of the year.

sense in the hospitality sector.

Towards the end of the year and into early 2013, interest
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in both of these properties has picked up, but they have

the 54,000 added by the former Canadian Tire store, the

provided a negative drag on NVDLP property management

approximately 7,600 (net 2,800 per JV interest) added

portfolio performance. At the same time other rental

by the Selkirk project in early 2012, and the continuing

spaces became vacant during the year. EasyHome left the

re-lease of existing spaces at higher rates as leases come up

Partnership’s Nugget Beach property at the end of 2013, and

for renewal, these spaces provide for substantial potential

NVDLP renovated the property into office space, allowing

increases in lease revenues for the Partnership.

for EDI, an environmental consulting firm, to move into
that premise by May 2013. Axis insurance merged with

The table on the following page indicates the square footage

another NVDLP tenant, AON insurance, in the fall of 2012,

(net interest) of the properties that NVDLP will be leasing

leaving the Axis space at Yukon Centre Mall vacant at year

in 2013. The total is more than double the leaseable square

end, with no new tenant yet identified.

footage currently managed by the Partnership. The former
Canadian Tire building alone adds more than a third of the

While management is concerned that for the first time

rentable square footage. The Edgewater also adds substantial

vacancies are available, it is expected that the new space

leaseable square footage with new food and beverage space

in the market will be absorbed throughout 2013. Builders

that the Partnership plans to lease out if possible. Once these

and developers have backed off new development projects

new spaces are fully leased, the Partnership will manage

and this will pave the way for NVDLP leasing efforts to

over 142,500 net square feet of commercial office/retail and

backfill the spaces that have been created. The Partnership

industrial space in the City of Whitehorse. Of this almost 60%

was pleased to be able to sell or lease 70% of its Waterfront

is either new built or has been comprehensively renovated

Station commercial project against this backdrop in 2012,

since 2007.

and it is also seeing strong demand for the space it is
renovating in the former Canadian Tire building, a 54,000

Late in the year the Partnership renegotiated a large portion

square foot acquisition the Partnership made in December 2012.

of its mortgage portfolio which had reached maturity on

Due to the relatively low acquisition cost of this project, and

December 1, 2012. As these mortgages were established for

the large size, this project offers an element to the NVDLP

a five year term with GE Real Estate, and as that lender has

rental portfolio that was not previously represented.

backed out of the mortgage lending business, NVDLP was
forced to look for new lenders. A competition was held and

Management is focused on achieving strong results from

BDC emerged with the most flexible terms. Accordingly new

its leasing program in 2013, and if successful, this division

mortgages were established with BDC for $9.0 million on

will provide much larger sustained contributions to the

the Best Western Gold Rush Inn and for $3.75 on the Yukon

Partnership’s available funds from operations in 2014

Centre Mall. The facilities allow for draw down of the $5.31

and beyond. Waterfront Station offers 44,000 square feet

million in excess of the mortgage amounts being retired, that

of commercial space and the Partnership expects that

has been used for acquisition and renovation activities. This

approximately half will be sold as commercial condominiums

funding was used in part to acquire the Partnership’s new

and half will remain in the lease portfolio. As a 50% JV

office space in Waterfront Station, the former Canadian Tire

partner in Waterfront Station, this will add a net 11,000

building acquisition, and renovation activities to convert the

square feet to the Partnerships portfolio. Together with

old Easyhome space to offices.

OVERALL INCOME AND GAINS FOR THE YEAR FROM
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE WERE AT $602,000
REPRESENTING AN INCREASE OF 5% OVER 2011 LEVELS.

Summary of Leaseable Space - NVDLP Portfolio
Leaseable

% owned

Net

% of Portfolio

40,304

100%

40,304

28.3%

Yukon Centre Mall
Nugget Beach

5,899

100%

5,899

4.1%

10,107

100%

10,107

7.1%

4,413

100%

4,413

3.1%

880

100%

880

0.6%

Titanium Way 170 (JV)

6,652

67%

4,435

3.1%

Titanium Way 166 (JV)

7,606

37%

2,832

2.0%

Gold Rush Inn Retail

1,539

100%

Spook Creek Station
Pizza Hut
Trades Centre I Condominium

Total Existing - end of 2012

1,539

1.1%

70,409

49.4%

692

0.5%

New Properties - 2013
Carcross VIC
Edgewater Inn Retail Food & Beverage

1,384

50%

6,400

100%

6,400

4.5%

Waterfront Station Leaseable -estimated

22,000

50%

11,000

7.7%

Former Canadian Tire - approximately

54,000

100%

54,000

37.9%

72,092

50.6%

Total New - 2013

142,501

Total Available

The above table does not include square footage with bare land rentals that include rental of Titanium Way lots for storage, or the back side of Nugget Beach for bus parking.

Titanium Way Business Park Sales Program

properties held for sale were at $602,000 representing an

In 2012 the Partnership sold six Titanium Way Business

increase of 5% over 2011 levels. Management anticipates this

Park lots – including two of the large lots in the inventory.

pace will slow in 2013 and pick up again in 2014, however

The largest lot was sold into a Storage Park Joint Venture

the actual outcomes are difficult to predict and largely

(Titanium Way Storage) in which NVDLP retains a 40%

dependent on the overall economy.

interest. The second large lot was sold to Yukon Brewery.
At year end the Partnership still owns approximately 40%

Development properties

of the original lands. Over the past year sales have slowed

As noted, this is a new reporting segment for NVDLP. The

in step with a drop off in mining exploration activity. This
is expected to pick up again as the economy begins to be
impacted by the opening of operating mines. Because of the
large lot sales, the actual gains from sales of Titanium Way

gains and income reported in 2013 are a direct result of
the sales of River’s Reach residential condominiums and
Waterfront Station commercial condominiums.

lots in 2012 eclipsed the amount earned in 2011 when seven
lots were sold. Overall income and gains for the year from
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THE 44,000 SQ. FT. WATERFRONT STATION PROJECT
HAS CREATED A VISUAL SIGNATURE ON THE
YUKON RIVER WATERFRONT.

Development Activities

the city. Tenants have done an excellent job in fitting up

River’s Reach and Waterfront Station

attractive spaces that are unparalleled in the city.

By year end the Partnership had sold 16 out of 20 River’s Reach
residential condominiums. The complex was completed and

At year end the Partnership had sold or leased approximately

ready for occupancy in July 2012 as planned, and presales

70% of the structure, with many of the sales closing in early

met NVDLP’s expectations. The resulting condominium complex

2013. Throughout the current year, management will focus

offers stunning views, beautifully appointed condominiums

on selling and leasing the remaining units, completing the

and a wonderful riverfront location. NVDLP has provided

signage and landscaping, and celebrating the opening of

property management for the project since inception.

this iconic commercial project. Ketza Group was the builder
of both River’s Reach and Waterfront Station, and is a 10%

In terms of future development, the Partnership has

Joint Venture partner in River’s Reach and a 50% partner

concluded that the 20 luxury units offered by River’s Reach

in Waterfront Station. With the completion of Waterfront

likely meet the demand for such units in Whitehorse and

Station, which joins River’s Reach and Spook Creek Station

future residential built in this area will likely focus on a

as NVDLP developments on the core waterfront lands,

slightly lower price point and larger units. At the present

NVDLP has started to realize its vision for this waterfront

time the Partnership is weighing options on the style of

community. Once both projects approach sell out, the

future residential development in the area and will roll out

Partnership will move forward with plans for the balance

an overall plan later in 2013.

of the development.

Waterfront Station Commercial Project

Beyond Whitehorse

The 44,000 square foot Waterfront Station commercial

In May 2013 the Partnership will begin to lease premises

project has created a visual signature in Whitehorse. Its

outside of Whitehorse for the first time. One of the new

prominent location and curved roof lines cannot be missed

major unitholders in the Partnership is a Trust associated

and it has set a new standard for commercial space in

with the Carcross Tagish First Nation (collectively we refer

Progress was made on Waterfront Station throughout the year and by year-end, the building was substantially complete.

River’s Reach was ready for occupancy at the end of June 2012 and was 80% sold by the end of the year.

to the entities as “CTFN”). NVDLP explored opportunities

encountered situations where our partners require lending

to invest with this new unitholder and found an attractive

support in order to fully engage in their partnership positions
with NVDLP.

opportunity in the new Visitor Reception Centre in Carcross,
located approximately 45 minutes south of Whitehorse.
CTFN oversaw the construction of this project which
was completed in April 2013 and the Yukon Territorial
Government Department of Tourism will commence
utilization of the premises in May 2013. NVDLP is a 50%
owner and will provide property management services.
While this project is small, it is an important first step in
long term partnerships that NVDLP intends to establish
with several of its new major unitholders. In all cases both

Such lending is backed by assets that NVDLP is invested
in, and provides unitholders with attractive returns. While
this has always been an area in which the Partnership is
engaged, it became a material activity in 2012. It is not
anticipated that lending activities will increase further. At
year end the Partnership had loans to partners, tenants and
related parties totaling $2.7 million with a weighted average
rate of return of 6.22% per annum.

Partnership finds that it is sometimes prudent to provide

Economic Commentary
The economy in Yukon slowed in 2012 as a result of a
reduction of activity in the mining sector, particularly in
mining exploration. This impacted NVDLP operations by
reducing demand for industrial/commercial leases as well
as hotel rooms associated with this sector. While the drop
in hotel demand was offset by a stronger tourism sector
particularly in the off-season aura viewing segment, the
drop off in mining exploration activity had a definite impact

the lending required to fit up space or allow purchase of

on demand for Titanium Way Business Park sales and

lands through vendor backed financing. NVDLP has also

leasing opportunities.

NVDLP and its partners are seeking projects that meet the
return on investment metrics that NVDLP applies to its major
Whitehorse-based projects.
Lending Activities
With a significant increase in pace of NVDLP’s involvement
with new build office space, tenant fit up and leasing, the
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This slowdown is expected to continue to have an impact

that there are three new mines likely to come on stream

throughout 2013, but as early as 2014 the trend may be

in the next half decade. These include Selwyn in 2016/17,

reversed as the economy begins to be driven by mines

Copper North Carmacks in 2014, and Victoria Gold Eagle in

coming into production. The Conference Board of Canada

late 2014. Noting the Bellekeno mine will close in 2016, the

has projected that the Yukon will see real GDP growth of

Conference Board projects there will be five operating mines

7.3% in 2013 related to such activities. While the board and

at the end of the decade.

management of NVDLP are less optimistic, the Partnership is
already beginning to witness a positive change in 2013 and

It is impossible to project with certainty which mines will

it is certainly expected that in the coming years the economic

come on stream, and when, but NVDLP is operating on

growth will continue to be strong. While the Conference

the premise that some of these projects will go ahead,

Board is bullish on the long term mining prospects, it does

and when coupled with strong government spending,

have a weaker outlook going forward for the construction

a renewed tourism sector and other activities, they will

industry.

create a reasonable economic backdrop against which the
Partnership can conduct reasonable business activities.

Mining, Oil and Gas and Tourism
Currently there are three operating mines in Yukon which

Even if the Conference Board’s projection that mining

include Capstone in Minto, Bellekeno and Yukon Zinc

output will grow in the Yukon at a compound annual growth

(Wolverine). Much news was created recently when Golden

rate of 10.7% between 2013 and 2020 falls short, it is still

Predator’s bid to quickly progress with its Brewery Creek

anticipated that the economic drivers will be reasonably

project just outside Dawson was turned down by the

robust for much of this period and that NVDLP’s asset base is

regulator, however the Conference Board of Canada projects

well positioned to take advantage of such economic strength.

While NVDLP and Ketza Group have focused on the overall structure, Waterfront Station tenants like Colour Bar have created wonderful interiors in the building.

Real Estate Leasing and Sales

Summary and Outlook

The housing market in the Yukon remains tight and

NVDLP enjoys an enviable position in Whitehorse,

apartment vacancy levels are expected to remain below

with a strong position in both hospitality and property

1.5%. In spite of this, NVDLP believes there is not strong

management/development segments. The completion of

demand for condominiums at or above the price point

the Waterfront Station and former Canadian Tire leasing

delivered in the River’s Reach project and will look to the

programs will result in a doubling of the size of the Rental

upper middle of the market with future developments in

Properties division and the addition of the Edgewater

the residential segment. To this point, the Partnership has

Hotel and the adoption of the Coast brand are important

benefitted from excellent timing. In a recent article in Real

developments in the Hotel Division. These, and other

Estate Wealth, The Yukon’s housing market was rated 10th

initiatives will allow NVDLP to continue to grow and take

best in Canada over the period between 2002 and 2012, with

advantage of its strong position in the Yukon. New major

a 9.7% annual compound growth rate. This has rewarded

unitholders who became involved with the Partnership this

NVDLP, which was established in the Yukon in 2004.

past year provide important growth opportunities as well.

With the midterm outlook being neutral to positive and
the longer term outlook being robust, NVDLP will stay the
course with respect to identifying quality assets and carefully
developing them to achieve the best possible long term gains
for unitholders. However the Partnership will continue to
look at the residential market with a very conservative eye.

The wine room at Morel’s has become a very popular meeting spot.

New NVDLP boardroom table at Waterfront Station is integrated fully with the building.
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MANAGEMENT’S
DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OF THE
FINANCIAL RESULTS

The audited financial statements of
NVDLP as at and for the period ended
December 31, 2012 are included with
this annual report. This summary should
be read in conjunction with the financial
statements and related notes thereto.
The financial statements were prepared
by management and audited by
BDO Canada LLP.

Statements Prepared Under New Accounting Framework

units resulted from the issuance of 7,555,606 units at $1.90

The Partnership’s financial statements for the year ended

per unit worth an aggregate of $14,355,651 through the

December 31, 2012 continue to utilize the Accounting

private placement and the retirement of 6,525,661 units at

Standards for Private Enterprise (“ASPE”) which were

a cost to the Partnership of $1.81 per unit for an aggregate

adopted for the first time by the Partnership in 2011. The

cost of $11,811,446, along with total transaction costs of

Partnership may move to the IFRS framework at a later

$627,771. The $0.09 spread between the private placement

time if desired.

price and the Issuer Bid price covered $587,310 of the
transaction costs, with the remaining $40,460 allocated

Financing Activities

against the net amount raised of $1,936,895 (2% transaction

Unit Equity: During 2012 the Partnership entered into a three

cost). There is a small discrepancy of 25 units based on

step transaction involving: the amendment of the Limited

the summary above, which is due to the initial conversion

Partnership Agreement and the related issuance of new units

creating fractional units.

of the Partnership to replace old units; a private placement
to raise new equity for the Partnership and to provide funds

Long Term Debt: The Partnership entered into a number

for the Issuer Bid; and an Issuer Bid allowing unitholders to

of transactions related to long term debt during 2012.

either partially or fully exit the Partnership.

At the end of 2011 a significant portion of NVDLP debt
was considered short term because it was set to mature

The first step involved the cancelation of the 12,260,287

during 2012. All of this debt was renewed or replaced by

units outstanding and the issuance of a total of 18,495,104

long term debt during the year. Consequently the current

new units of the Partnership valued at $1.90 per unit.

portion of long term debt was reduced substantially, from

A further 1,504,896 units were issued to the General Partner

$8,676,169 at the end of 2011 to $1,819,438 as at December

in order to provide future compensation that it would be

31, 2012. Long term portion of long term debt increased

entitled to under current arrangements. A valuation of

to $16,611,684 at December 31, 2012 as contrasted to

the Partnership dated October 31, 2011 and completed

$6,544,258 at December 31, 2011 due to the previously

by BDO Canada LLP was utilized to determine the fair

mentioned renewal of debt classified as current, while

market value of all LP unit interests and the GP interest.

also entering into arrangements to increase the mortgage

When this transaction was approved, based on the

amounts secured by certain of the Partnership’s assets.

unanimous support of the approximately 78% of unitholders
who cast votes, there were 20 million new units of the

Specifically the following transactions took place during the

Partnership outstanding.

year: (a) Two (2) loans totaling $4,497,045 at December
31, 2011 with GE Real Estate carrying variable interest

Through the private placement and the Issuer Bid, the

rates based on spreads on Banker’s Acceptance rates and

Partnership raised net equity of $1,896,435 (after transaction

maturing on December 1, 2012 were replaced by a loan

costs) during the year. This involved the issuance of a further

with BDC at its floating base rate less 0.5% for up to $9

1,029,970 units (net) bringing the total units outstanding at

million. This loan was fully drawn down during 2012 with

December 31, 2012 to 21,029,970 new LP units (12,260,287

a total of $8,958,666 outstanding at December 31, 2012.

original units at December 31, 2011). The net increase in

(b) A loan totaling $3,733,934 at December 31, 2011 with
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THROUGH THE PRIVATE PLACEMENT AND THE ISSUER
BID, THE PARTNERSHIP RAISED NET EQUITY OF $1,896,435
(AFTER TRANSACTION COSTS) DURING THE YEAR.

GE Real Estate carrying a variable interest rate based

Short Term Debt: The Partnership’s short term debt during the

on a spread on Banker’s Acceptance rates and maturing

year related to construction financing undertaken with RBC

on December 1, 2012 with a loan from BDC for up to

to finance the River’s Reach residential condominium project

$3,750,000 based on BDC’s floating base rate less 0.5%

and the Waterfront Station commercial condominium project.

which will convert to a fixed rate loan at 4.75% in 2013.

The River’s Reach loan (net 90% to NVDLP) was retired

This loan was drawn to a total of $1,834,469 at December

completely during the year (NVDLP net portion $1,917,343

31, 2012. The loans noted in (a) and (b) were used in

at December 31, 2011). The NVDLP net portion (50%) of the

combination to retire the three loans with GE Real Estate

Waterfront Station loan was $2,467,924 at December 31,

totaling $8,230,979 as well as to fund the purchase of

2012 (nil at December 31, 2011). This loan will be reduced

the former Canadian Tire store in December 2012.

through the application of proceeds from condominium sales

(c) A mortgage on the High Country Inn was increased from

in 2013, and replaced by a take-out mortgage previously

$2,335,043 to $3,038,346 net of repayments of principal

negotiated with RBC.

during the year in order to fund a renovation program
totaling $850,000. (d) A mortgage with BDC secured by
the Titanium Way 170 and 166 Joint Venture properties
increased to $418,950 at December 31, 2012 from $245,754
at December 31, 2011 representing the Partnership’s net
portion of the drawdown of the construction financing
provided for the Titanium Way 166 property that was
completed in early 2012. (e) A new loan with BDC at floating
rate plus 0.5% and totaling $156,185 at December 31, 2012
(nil at December 31, 2011) was entered into representing the
Partnership’s net loan interest associated with its 40% Joint
Venture position in the Titanium Way Storage Park.
At December 31, 2012 a loan with TD bank totaling
$677,760 ($729,660 at December 31, 2011) was classified as

Weighted Average Cost of Debt: At December 31, 2012
weighted average cost of long term debt increased to 5.16%
(4.18% at December 31, 2011). This increase was due to the
higher interest rates associated with the BDC debt taken
out to replace the GE Real Estate loans secured by the Gold
Rush Inn and the Yukon Centre Mall as well as a move by the
Partnership to begin to enter into slightly more expensive
fixed rate arrangements in order to balance its debt
portfolio. The GE Real Estate loans were based on Banker’s
Acceptance rates which were highly favourable. Such rates
were no longer available when these loans matured in
2012. Total long term debt before allowance for current
portion increased $3.2 million or 21.1% to $18.4 million at
December 31, 2012 ($15.2 million as at December 31, 2011)
as a result of the aforementioned loan activities throughout

current because it matures in October 2013. The Partnership

the year. The long term debt to equity ratio at December 31,

has no reason to believe it will not renew this mortgage.

2012 increased to 0.83:1 (2011 – 0.77:1) as a result of long

At year end a loan with GE Real Estate totaling $1,256,215

term debt increasing faster than equity. Equity increased

($1,362,235 at December 31, 2012) and maturing on May 1,

during the year due to the income earned and the proceeds

2013 was not classified as current because the Partnership

of the private placement net of the costs associated with

had entered into a commitment, prior to December 31, 2012,

retiring units through the Issuer Bid, but decreased due to

with RBC to replace this mortgage at maturity with a longer

the payout of a distribution to unit holders of $2.75 million in

term loan facility.

December 2012 ($1.7 million in October 2011).

Including the short term construction loan associated with

position in 2012. Such development inventories were

the Waterfront Station project, NVDLP’s loan portfolio

classified as long term in 2011 as they were not completed

includes 29.5% fixed rate and 70.5% variable rate loans

and ready for sale at the end of 2011.

(19% fixed and 81% variable at December 31, 2011). The
Partnership will continue to seek opportunities to rebalance

Accounts Receivable increased substantially in 2012 to

the portfolio to a higher percentage of fixed rate mortgages

$1,972,256 from $684,611. This relates to development

if it is prudent to do so. Currently, the Partnership is exposed

activities wherein sales were entered into in 2012 with

to interest rate risk with each 1% rise in its variable interest

cash received in early 2013. Accounts payable and accrued

rates responsible for an annual increase of $126,315 in

liabilities were similarly up substantially to $2,746,498 at

interest expense. Looking forward to 2013, the Partnership

December 31, 2012 ($1,591,252 – 2011) due to deposits

has assumed that interest rates will increase only marginally

received from purchasers of units in Waterfront Station and

from existing levels over the next year.
Working Capital
As noted in previous years, it is typical for current liabilities
to significantly exceed current assets for the Partnership,
given that certain potential sales “inventories” are properly
classified as a long term asset – properties held for sale
– and debt that is maturing is classified as short term
debt even when the Partnership fully anticipates to renew
the loans. This situation is exaggerated by the fact that
construction loans are classified as short term, while many
of the associated assets, even if they are intended for sale,
are classified as long term. In 2011 this situation was
exaggerated by the number of loans that were maturing
during the year. Consequently there appeared to be a major
working capital issue in 2011. As reported in the 2011
Annual Report the Partnership did not anticipate any issues
associated with this situation and none were encountered.

amounts owed by Joint Ventures.
Development Segment
This year’s financial statements have several new balances
as a result of the LP’s development activities. At year end
NVDLP continued to hold four River’s Reach condominiums
which it is actively selling. These are shown as “Properties
Held for Sale”; a current asset. “Property under Development”
represents those development properties which are either
committed to future development or actively being developed
at year end. Properties held for sale that are not current are
those which are available for sale and future development.
On disposition of these assets NVDLP classifies as income
any revenues that are a result of a clear intent to develop
and improve the property whereas gains are recognized on
any dispositions that are precursors to the formation of a
Joint Venture or the sale of bare lands with minimal improvements.

The maturing mortgages were replaced in orderly

Operating Activities

fashion. In 2012 the working capital deficit has reduced

Revenues: Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012

considerably, however it remains a deficit due primarily to

increased by 11.2% to $12.9 million versus $11.5 million in

the constructions loans and the TD mortgage that matures

the previous year. The primary driver of this increase was

in October being classified as short term obligations. The

the introduction of development revenues to the financial

classification of development inventories from River’s Reach

results for NVDLP. Hotel revenues were also a material part

as current assets has improved the net working capital

of the increase, up 4.5% to $10.5 million from $10.1 million
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in 2011. In 2012 the Hotel Division accounted for 81.8%

Given the sales program for the Heights Condos was

of overall revenues (2011 – 87.1%), Rentals accounted for

completed in 2011, there was no interest cost associated

11.0% (2011 – 12.3%), Development activities accounted for

with properties held for sale in 2012 (2011- $5,026).

6.7% (2011 – nil) and other activities 0.5% (2011- 0.7%).
In 2012 board costs and management fees have been
Gross Profit and Direct Expenses: Direct Expenses were up

combined into one category. This reflects that as of

for the year by 8.7 % to $8.5 million (2011 - $7.8 million).

September 2012 the management fee was discontinued as

This was driven by an 8.4% increase in hotel direct costs

part of the LP Agreement amendments. Previously board

which rose more rapidly than revenues. This was the direct

costs were paid by the General Partner (“GP”) out of the

result of (a) the introduction of a new food and beverage

management fees received from the LP. Post September

outlet in the High Country Inn during the year, with the

2012 these fees are paid directly. In past years, although

associated startup costs; (b) increases in the costs related

not obligated to do so, the GP paid for certain management

to energy and repairs and maintenance at the hotels; and

salaries. This practice was discontinued in September 2012

(c) the increase in certain one-time room cost expenditures.

as a result of the restructuring transaction. Accordingly the

Overall Gross Profit increased by 16.4% to $4.4 million

Partnership witnessed a decrease in management fees and

(2011 - $3.7 million) despite the margin erosion in the

board costs to $232,726 from $296,683 in 2011. Overall the

hotel division. This was due to the fact that the new

expenses of the Partnership will not be materially increased

revenues associated with development activities do not

or decreased as a result of this change, as the GP had

have any associated direct costs.

traditionally reinvested almost the entire management fee it
received into a combination of board costs, investor relations

Expenses: Amortization increased to $1.3 million from

activities, management salaries and other costs that are now

$1.1 million in 2011 driven primarily by the impact of hotel

paid directly by the LP.

renovation activity over the past few years, as well as the
completion and inclusion of new projects such as Titanium

Reflecting the increasing pace of development activities,

Way 166 and a condominium in River’s Reach owned by

Marketing costs were up in 2012 to $79,007 from $49,408

NVDLP. Interest changes were relatively unchanged, at

in 2011. It is expected that Marketing costs will continue at

$570,631 in 2012 compared to $569,552 in 2011. Most of

this level as the Partnership continues to focus attention on

the change in debt arrangements occurred with less than

development activities and lot sales.

a month remaining in 2012 and consequently interest
associated with the small amount of new debt added at the

Wages remained steady in 2012 at $481,445 ($479,261

beginning of the year, was offset by reduction in principal

-2011). While wages were up on a gross basis, the

throughout most of the year. The weighted average cost of

Partnership was able to recover the increases through charge

debt increased to 5.16% at December 31, 2012 (4.18% at

backs that netted out of wage costs. As the Partnership

December 31, 2011), however this increase happened in

continues to expand its development and sales activities,

December 2012 and therefore had little impact on current

while growing its property management portfolio, it will see

year interest costs.

continued upward pressure on wages.

OVERALL GROSS PROFIT INCREASED BY
16.4% TO $4.4 MILLION (2011 - $3.8 MILLION) DESPITE
THE MARGIN EROSION IN THE HOTEL DIVISION.

Income from Operations: The variances analyzed above, in

Review of Management Objectives

particular the development related income, account for

Here is a review of the objectives set for 2012 in the 2011

Income from Operations increasing by 47.7% to $1.6 million

annual report with commentary on the results achieved:

($1.1 million – 2011).
I. OBJECTIVE: Sell and/or commence to develop a minimum
Sales Activities

of seven Titanium Way Business Park lots.

In keeping with its plans, the Partnership sold six Titanium

Result: The Partnership sold six lots but due to the fact

Way lots during the year, while at the same time selling out

two of these were the largest lots in the development the

80% of its River’s Reach condominium project and beginning

gains objectives were exceeded, as the total income was

to realize gains on sales of Waterfront Station condominiums.

more than the equivalent associated with the sale of seven

Titanium Way sales accounted for $602,334 in 2012
(Titanium Way and Heights sales - $573,887 in 2011). The
gains on sale of development properties of $608,051 (nil in
2011) relate to profits to date from Waterfront Station sales.
In 2011 the Partnership sold income producing properties
for a total gain of $326,580. In the current year this was
reduced to $3,674 related to the sale of a Trade Centre II
condominium the Partnership had earlier received in trade
for land in the Titanium Way Business Park.
Interest Income
In order to facilitate certain tenant fit up and sales, the
Partnership enters into Vendor Take Back loan arrangements
and tenant fit up loans as well as related financing activities.

averaged sized lots.
II. OBJECTIVE: Maintain or grow the income generated
from operations of the Hotel and Property Management
Divisions.
Result: While income from operations was up 47.5%, this
was driven by the income from development activities as
opposed to growth from the Partnership’s two traditional
operating divisions.
III. OBJECTIVE: Deliver the River’s Reach Residential
Project by June 2012 and either sell or lease the remaining
unsold inventory by year end.
Result: The project was delivered on schedule in June 2012
with 80% of the inventory sold at year end.

This became a material activity in 2012 with income
increasing to $86,689 from $18,167 in 2011. At year end

IV. OBJECTIVE: Deliver the Waterfront Station Commercial

the company had loans outstanding of $2,739,618 with a

Project by September 2012 and either sell and or lease at

weighted average interest income of 6.22%. The Partnership

least 90% of the project by year end.

will continue to extend such loans only when interest rates

Result: The project was substantially completed in October

are attractive, security is sufficient and there are strategic

2012 with the first tenants in place in the building that

reasons to do so that lead to the generation of related income

month. The project was approximately 70% sold or leased

for the Partnership.

at year end.
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V. OBJECTIVE: Lease out the remaining commercial spaces

The following are the key objectives for management

in the Selkirk JV project in Titanium Way and re-lease space

in 2013:

that becomes vacant in the TW 170 project by year end.
Result: Both projects were slow to lease in 2012 resulting in the

I.

Partnership not enjoying a fully leased portfolio at year end.

Successfully lease out a significant percentage of the
former Canadian Tire building and complete landlord
work on this project, with the majority of the space

VI. OBJECTIVE: Formulate a schedule for the development of

having tenants in place by year end.

the remaining Waterfront lands based on sales and leasing
success of the Phase I Residential and Commercial projects.

II.

Complete the sales of Rivers Reach units and the

Result: The Partnership is developing strategies for these

sales and leasing of the remaining Waterfront Station

remaining lands in 2013 based on learning from the activities

Inventory.

in 2012.
III. Complete leasing of the balance of the NVDLP portfolio
VII. OBJECTIVE: Complete a successful partial Liquidity Event

that is currently vacant with a focus on the Titanium

for unitholders during the year and extend the mandate of

Way projects.

the Partnership for those who wish to remain as unitholders.
Result: This objective was achieved at a level beyond the
expectations of board and management.

IV.

Complete financing programs to support all acquisition
and development activities in 2013.

V.

Successfully identify and commence to develop projects

IX. Support the Governance review and if appropriate

outside of Whitehorse that can be undertaken in

support the introduction of mechanism to reward board

partnership with major NVDLP unitholders if they meet

and management for meeting and exceeding outcomes

NVDLP return expectations.

that are in the best interest of unitholders.

VI. Continue to enhance the property management and

Financial and Liquidity Plans

development teams in order to allow NVDLP to deliver

The Partnership will establish new banking relationships

professional services that keep up with the Partnership’s

and draw down remaining credit in order to support the

rapid expansion.

acquisition and renovation activities identified above. It may

VII. Successfully integrate the Edgewater Hotel into the
Hotel Division and ensure improvement in Hotel
Division operating margin through a focus on costs.
VIII. Allow the Partnership to continue to distribute to

also entertain other sources of funding if they are required,
however it will continue to manage at a conservative debt
to equity ratio. Focus will continue to be on positioning the
Partnership so it can distribute the bulk of Available Funds
From Operations (“AFFO”).

unitholders despite the increased activity levels and
pressure on funds.
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FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

AND NOTES

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The accompanying financial statements of the Northern Vision

external accountants’ report. The Board of Directors takes this

Development Limited Partnership and all the information in

information into consideration when approving the financial

this annual report are the responsibility of management and

statements for issuance to the partners. The Board of Directors

have been approved by the Board of Directors.

also consider the engagement of the external accountants.

These financial statements have been prepared by management

The financial statements have been audited by BDO Canada

in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private

LLP in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing

enterprises. Financial statements are not precise since they

standards on behalf of the Partnership. BDO Canada LLP has

include certain amounts based on estimates and judgments.

full access to the Board of Directors.

When alternative accounting methods exist, management has
chosen those it deems most appropriate in the circumstances,

April 26, 2013

in order to ensure that the financial statements are presented
fairly, in all material respects.
On behalf of the Board:
The Partnership maintains systems of internal accounting
and administrative controls of quality that are consistent
with reasonable cost. Such systems are designed to provide
reasonable assurance that the financial information is
relevant, reliable and accurate and the Partnership’s assets

Stanley Noel, Director and Audit Committee Chair

are appropriately accounted for and adequately safeguarded.
The Partnership’s management is responsible for ensuring
that the Partnership fulfills its responsibilities for financial
reporting and is ultimately responsible for reviewing and

Ian McAuley, Director and member of the Audit Committee

approving the financial statements.
The Board of Directors review the Partnership’s financial
statements and recommend their approval. The Board of
Directors meet periodically with management, as well as the
external accountants, to discuss internal controls over the
financial reporting issues, to satisfy themselves that each
party is properly discharging their responsibilities, and to
review the annual report, the financial statements and the
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Independant Auditor’s Report
To the Partners of
Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership, which comprise
the balance sheet as at December 31, 2012 and the statements of operations, partners’ equity and cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for private enterprises, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Northern Vision
Development Limited Partnership as at December 31, 2012, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises.
Chartered Accountants

Whitehorse, Yukon
April 26, 2013

BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International
Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international BDO network
of independent member firms.

Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership
BALANCE SHEET

2011

2012
As at December 31,

(Restated)

Assets
Current
Cash

$

486,818

Accounts receivable

1,972,255

Properties held for sale (Note 3)

$

854,433
684,611

1,348,513

-

Inventories

129,376

89,107

Prepaid expenses and deposits (Note 8)

374,233

312,475

Note receivable (Note 12)
Current portion of loans receivable (Note 9)

Loans Receivable (Note 9)

77,637

173,299

566,236

36,977

4,955,068

2,150,902

2,173,382

326,483

28,800,928

25,817,423

Property under development (Note 3)

7,381,988

7,725,430

Property and equipment held for sale (Note 4)

2,459,621

3,212,264

12,278

14,605

Property and equipment (Note 2)

Other
$

45,783,265

$

39,247,107

$

2,746,498

$

1,591,252

Liabilities and Partners’ Equity
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue

205,101

579,034

1,500

11,529

-

70,000

Current portion of long term debt (Note 5)

1,819,438

8,676,169

Short term loan (Note 6)

2,437,134

1,856,369

Customer deposits
Promissory notes (Note 14)

$
Long term debt (Note 5)

Partners’ equity
$

7,209,671

$

12,784,353

16,611,684

6,544,258

23,821,355

19,328,611

21,961,910

19,918,496

45,783,265

$

39,247,107

Approved on behalf of the Board:

Stanley Noel, Director, Chair of Audit Committee

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Ian McAuley, Director, Member of the Audit Committee
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Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership
STATEMENT OF PARTNERS’ EQUITY

For the year ended December 31
Partners’ equity, beginning of year

2011

2012
$

19,918,496

$

19,632,372

14,355,651

-

(11,811,446)

-

(627,771)

-

2,876,980

1,986,124

Partners’ equity, end of year

24,711,910

21,618,496

Capital distribution

(2,750,000)

(1,700,000)

Units issued
Units Redeemed
Issuance Costs
Net income for the year

Partners’ equity, end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

$

21,961,910

$

19,918,496

Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For the Year Ended December 31

2011

2012

Revenues
Hotels

$

Rentals

10,515,791

$

10,064,594

1,410,455

1,420,909

862,393

-

Rental income from properties held for sale

18,375

22,500

Other

42,927

44,018

12,849,941

11,552,021

8,369.453

7,720,789

100,169

64,186

-

3,987

8,469,622

7,788,962

4,380,319

3,763,059

Development properties

Direct expenses
Hotels
Rentals
Rental properties held for sale

Gross profit
Expenses
Amortization

1,282,615

1,133,946

Interest

570,631

569,552

Wages

481,445

479,261

Management fee

207,773

296,683

79,007

49,408

Marketing
Office

61,886

50,840

Professional fees

50,574

67,787

Travel

30,805

28,586

Board

24,953

-

Shareholder communications

14,398

14,480

Interest relating to properties held for sale

Income from operations

-

5,026

2,804,087

2,695,569

1,576,232

1,067,490

Other income
86,689

18,167

Gain on disposal of properties held for sale

Interest income

602,334

573,887

Gain on sale of development properties

608,051

-

3,674

326,580

Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Net income for the year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

$

2,876,980

$

1,986,124
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Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended December 31

2011

2012

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income for the year

$

2,876,980

$

1,986,124

Add back non cash items
Amortization of financing fees

62,648

56,711

Amortization of other assets
Amortization of property and equipment
Revenue contributed as equity
Gains on disposal of property and equipment
Gains from sale of properties held for sale
Gains from sale of properties under development

22,304

1,764

1,203,600

1,132,182

(20,000)

-

(3,674)

(326,580)

(602,334)

(573,887)

(1,470,444)

-

2,063,143

2,282,251

1,155,246

1,070,249

Changes in non cash working capital balances
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

(1,287,645)

(221,114)

Prepaid expenses and deposits

Accounts receivable

(61,757)

(121,060)

Inventories

(40,269)

9,489

(1,217,962)

-

Deferred revenues

Development Properties

(373,933)

50,587

Customer deposits

(10,029)

2,233

-

(19,580)

Government remittances payable
Promissory notes

(70,000)

-

156,794

3,053,055

Cash flows from investing activities:
Loans receivable

(2,376,428)

(257,270)

Proceeds on sale of property

11,626,431

2,356,956

(12,602,461)

(5,726,433)

Purchase of property
Other assets

(746)

3,067

(3,353,204)

(3,623,680)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Financing fees paid, net

(132,582)

(89,159)

Advances of short-term debt

6,824,309

1,917,343

Advances of long-term debt

12,054,446

2,951,754

Repayment of short-term debt

(6,273,729)

-

Repayment of long term debt

(8,810,084)

(2,416,961)

Partnership units issued
Partnership units redeemed
Issuance costs
Capital distribution
Net increase in cash during the year
Cash, beginning of year
Cash, end of year

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information - see Note 16

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

14,355,651

-

(11,811,446)

-

(627,770)

-

(2,750,000)

(1,700,000)

2,828,795

662,977

(367,615)

92,352
762,081

854,433
$

486,818

$

854,433

Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (December 31, 2012)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations
Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership (the “Partnership”) was formed as a limited partnership under the laws of
Alberta on January 15, 2004 and extra-provincially registered under the Partnership and Business Names Act of the Territory
on March 22, 2004. The Partnership’s principal business is acquisition, development and sale of commercial, industrial,
residential and hospitality real estate located in Whitehorse, Yukon.
The Partnership consists of a general partner, Northern Vision Development Corp., and a number of limited partners.
Pursuant to the terms of the Limited Partnership Agreement, the General Partner has unlimited liability for the debts and
obligations of the Limited Partnership. The liability of each Limited Partner is limited to the amount of capital contributed or
agreed to be contributed, their assumed share of the mortgage financing, and their share of undistributed income.
Basis of Accounting
These financial statements reflect only the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the Partnership and therefore do not
include any other assets, liabilities, revenues or expenses of the partners or the liability of the partners for income taxes on
earnings of the Partnership. These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards
for private enterprises (ASPE).
Inventories
Inventories consist of residential properties held for sale and hotel supplies; which are valued at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. Cost is determined on a first in, first out basis. A provision is raised when it is believed that the costs incurred
will not be recovered on the ultimate sale of the inventory.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. Capitalized costs include all direct costs related to
development, construction and upgrades, other than ordinary repairs and maintenance, carrying costs including interest on
debt to finance projects, property taxes and land acquisition costs. Amortization is provided using the following annual rates:
Method

Rate

Automotive

Declining balance basis

30%

Buildings

Declining balance basis

4%

Computer equipment

Declining balance basis

30%

Computer software

Declining balance basis

45%

Furniture and fixtures

Declining balance basis

20%

Paving and landscaping

Declining balance basis

8%
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Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (December 31, 2012)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
Long-lived assets consist of property and equipment and organization costs. Long-lived assets held for use are measured
and amortized as described in the applicable accounting policies. In the event that facts and circumstances indicate that the
Partnership’s long-lived assets may be impaired, an evaluation of recoverability would be performed. Such an evaluation
entails comparing the estimated future undiscounted cash flows associated with the asset to the asset’s carrying amount to
determine if a write-down to market value or discounted cash flow value is required. Any impairment is included in earnings
(loss) for the year. The Partnership has determined that no circumstances exist that would require such an evaluation.
Income Taxes
The Partnership is a limited Partnership. As a result, the Partnership’s earnings or losses for federal income tax purposes
are included in the tax returns of the individual partners. Accordingly, no recognition has been given to income taxes in the
accompanying financial statements of the Partnership. Net earnings for financial statement purposes may differ significantly
from taxable income reportable to unit holders as a result of differences between the tax basis and financial reporting basis of
assets and liabilities and the taxable income allocation requirements under the Partnership agreement.
Revenue Recognition
Properties are rented to tenants pursuant to agreements, which provide for various rental terms with nonrefundable rental
payments. The rental agreements may be terminated at any time by the tenant without further obligation or cost upon
sufficient notification. Revenue from rental agreements is recognized over the rental term as amounts become due.
Hotel revenue is recognized as services are provided.
Gains or loss on disposal of assets is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset at the date of
disposal and the net proceeds from disposal and is included in the statement of operations in the year of disposal. Where
revenue is obtained from the sale of properties or assets, it is recognized when the significant risks and rewards have been
transferred and there are no significant obligations remaining. This normally takes place on exchange of unconditional
contracts and transfer of title.
Refundable tenant security deposits are recorded as a liability until repaid to the tenant.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian ASPE requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Significant
areas requiring management estimates relate to the determination of the impairment of assets, useful lives of property and
equipment, inventory obsolescence, recognition of revenue and recovery of receivables. Actual results could differ from those
estimates and may have an impact on future periods.

Property and Equipment Held for Sale
The Partnership classifies the assets of a business as held for sale when management approves and commits to a formal
plan of sale and it does not believe it can utilize the lands for active development. The carrying value of the net assets of the
business held for sale are then recorded at the lower of their carrying value or fair market value, less costs to sell.

Organization Costs
Organization costs are initially recorded at cost and amortized using the straight line method over six years, based upon
management’s best estimate of the useful life of the asset.

Non Monetary Transactions
All non-monetary transactions are measured at fair value unless:
» the transaction lacks commercial substance;
» the transaction is an exchange of a product or property held for sale in the ordinary course of business for a product
or property to be sold in the same line of business to facilitate sales to customers other than the parties to the
exchange;
» neither the fair value of the assets or services received nor the fair value of the assets or services given up is reliably
measurable; or
» the transaction is a non-monetary, non-reciprocal transfer to owners that represents a spin-off or other form of
restructuring or liquidation.
A non-monetary transaction has commercial substance when an entity’s future cash flows are expected to change significantly
as a result of the transaction.
Joint Ventures
Joint ventures are entities over which the Partnership has joint control with one or more unaffiliated entities. Joint venture
investments are accounted for using the proportionate consolidation method as follows:
» the balance sheet includes the Partnership’s share of the assets that it controls jointly and the liabilities for which it is
jointly responsible;
» the statement of operations includes the Partnership’s share of the income and expenses of the jointly controlled
entity; and
» gains on transactions between the Partnership and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Partnership’s
interest in the joint ventures and losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset.
Where the joint venture has adopted policies which differ from the Partnership, adjustments have been made to ensure consistency.
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Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (December 31, 2012)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial Instruments
Accounts receivable and notes receivable are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost.
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, short term loans, promissory notes, customer deposits, related party balances and
long term debt are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost.
Financing and transaction costs associated with long term debt are netted against the carrying value of the long term debt and
are amortized over the term of the financing using the effective interest rate method.
Financial assets are recognized on the date the Partnership commits to purchase or sell the asset and derecognized when the
Partnership no longer controls the contractual rights that comprise the financial instrument, which is normally the case when
the instrument is sold or all the risks and rewards of ownership have transferred to an independent third party.

2. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
2011

2012

Accumulated

Accumulated
Cost
Automotive

$

Buildings
Computer equipment
Computer software

228,180

Cost

Amortization
$

136,697

$

228,180

Amortization
$

97,490

23.346,907

4,039,086

20,864,545

3,337,539

158,866

110,047

52,530

31,065

44,330

34,718

138,100

90,244

Furniture and fixtures

3,004,542

1,477,035

2,347,737

1,190,623

Land and improvements

6,752,162

-

5,818,597

-

Paving and landscaping

1,613,446

549,923

1,573,805

459,110

$
Net book value

35,148,434

$

6,347,506

$

28,800,928

$

31,023,494

$

5,206,071

$

25,817,423

During the year, the Partnership recorded a gain of $3,674 (2011 $326,580) from the sale of property and equipment.

3. PROPERTY UNDER DEVELOPMENT
2011 (Restated)

2012

Accumulated

Accumulated
Cost
Land & improvements

$

Buildings

2,787,434

Amortization
$

7,381,988

Net book value

-

$

-

4,594,554
$

Cost

$

-

$

7,381,988

3,560,089

Amortization
$

-

4,165,341
$

7,725,430

$

-

$

7,725,430

Property under development consists of assets under active development or lands identified for development by the Partnership
for sale to third parties. During the year, the Partnership capitalized development and other costs in the amount of $6,946,783
(2011 $4,255,637) and interest on long term debt of $193,648 (2011 $21,180). A property under development at December
31st, 2011 was completed in the period. Net gains of $862,393 were reported and the balance of property not sold at year
end was recorded as inventory with a carrying value of $1,348,513. Another property is near completion at year end and has
realized gains of $608,051. The comparative values for 2011 have been restated (See Note 18).

4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT HELD FOR SALE
2011

2012
Cost

Cost

Accumulated

Accumulated
Amortization

Amortization
Land and improvements
Net book value

$

2,459,261

$

-

$

2,459,261

$

3,212,264

$

-

$

3,212,264

Property and equipment held for sale consist of land accounted for at the lower of net book value and estimated net realizable
value. Earnings and cash flows are included in the current operations of the Partnership.
During the year, the Partnership capitalized development and other costs in the amount of $270,135 (2011 $43,855) and
interest on long term debt of $31,095 (2011 $27,012). It received $51,004 in recoveries related to investments made in utility
provision in previous years.
During the year, the Partnership recorded a gain of $602,334 (2011 $573,887) from the sales of property and equipment held
for sale.
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5. LONG-TERM DEBT

As at December 31, 2012, there was $164,741 (2011 $128,125) in deferred financing fees netted against long term debt.
During the year, amortization of deferred financing fees amounted to $51,150 (2011 $62,648) and a further $101,792 (2011
$28,125) in fees were incurred.
2011

2012
Loan payable to GE Capital - interest at 6.78% per annum, due May 1, 2013, payable in
monthly installments of $14,156, principal and interest, secured by a first mortgage on the

$

1,256,215

$

1,352,235

property of 9016 Quartz Road, Whitehorse. Renewed by RBC in May 2013.
Loan payable to TD - interest at prime rate plus 1.25% per annum, due October 1, 2013,
with monthly principal repayments of $4,167 plus interest, secured by a first mortgage on

677,760

729,660

1,141,283

1,680,894

1,834,469

-

8,958,666

-

453,687

479,392

495,561

526,330

418,950

245,754

3,038,346

2,335,043

2193 and 2195 2nd Avenue, Whitehorse; general assignment of rental income from the
properties.
Loan payable to BDC - interest at BDC’s floating base rate less 0.5% variance per annum, due
December 23, 2015, with monthly principal repayments of $32,600 plus interest, secured by
various properties in the Whitehorse Industrial, Plan 2007-0103.
Loan payable to BDC - interest at BDC’s floating rate less 0.5% as at December 31, 2012,
but converted to fixed rate of 4.75% for a five year term with effect January 15, 2013,
interest only to April 2013, then with fixed principal repayments of $15,625 plus interest,
secured by the following: first mortgage on 2180/90 2nd Avenue, Whitehorse; general
assignment over property and equipment on that property.
Loan payable to BDC - interest at BDC’s floating base rate less 0.5%, due March 23, 2033,
interest only to April 23, 2013 then with fixed monthly principal repayments of $37,500 plus
interest, secured by the following: first mortgage on 411 Main Street, Whitehorse; general
assignment over property and equipment on that property; first priority on inventory and
receivables to lender.
Loan payable to BDC - interest at BDC’s floating base rate less 0.5%, due February 23, 2029,
with monthly principal repayments of $2,436 plus interest, secured by the following: first
mortgage and assignment of rents on the Partnership’s interest in the land and buildings at
166 & 170 Titanium Way, Whitehorse.
Loan payable to BDC interest at BDC’s floating base rate less 0.5%, due February 23, 2029,
with monthly principal repayments of $2,564 secured by land and building on Lot 2A, Block
B 335, Plan 2007-0028.
Loan payable to BDC - interest at BDC’s floating base rate less 0.5% variance per annum, due
December 23, 2031, with monthly interest payments, secured by the following: first mortgage
and assignment of rents on the Partnership’s interest in the land and buildings at 166 & 170
Titanium Way, Whitehorse.
Loan payable to BDC - interest at BDC’s floating base rate less 0.5% per annum, but
converted to fixed rate of 4.25% for a five year term effective January 15, 2013 with monthly
principal repayments of $13,000 plus interest, secured by the following: first mortgage on
4051 4th Avenue, Whitehorse; general assignment over property and equipment of the
property; first priority on inventory and receivables.

5. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)
2012

2011

156,185

-

Loan payable to GE Real Estate - repaid during the year.

-

4,143,089

Loan payable to GE Real Estate - repaid during the year.

-

3,373,994

Loan payable to GE Real Estate - repaid during the year.

-

354,036

18,431,122

15,220,427

1,819,438

8,676,169

Loan payable to BDC - interest at BDC’s floating base rate plus 0.5%, due March 23,2038,
interest only then with fixed monthly principal repayments of $640 plus interest commencing
April 23, 2013, secured by the following: first mortgage and assignment of rents on the
Partnership’s interest in the land and buildings at 140 Gypsum Way, Whitehorse.

Less amounts due within one year included in current liabilities
$

16,611,684

$

6,544,258

The BDC floating base rate at year end was 5.0% (2011 - 5.0%). TD prime rate at year end was 3.0% (2011 - 3.0%).
Principal repayments on long term debt over the next five years and thereafter are as follows:
2013

$

1,819,438

2014

1,331,612

2015

1,278,983

2016

908,009

2017

908,009

Thereafter

12,185,071
$

18,431,122

The Partnership’s debt agreements contain covenants which require minimum levels of tangible equity, debt service coverage,
limitations on indebtedness, and limit the use of proceeds of asset sales which it was in adherence to at December 31st, 2012.
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6. SHORT-TERM LOAN

As at December 31st, 2012, there was $2,467,924 (2011 nil) representing a 50% interest in short term debt obtained from
RBC relating to a commercial construction project undertaken in conjunction with a joint venture partner. The debt is secured
against a general security agreement and a first mortgage on Lot 21, Block 321, Whitehorse and a loan guarantee of up to
$3 million to 45978 Yukon Inc., due December 31st, 2013. Monthly payments at year end were interest only with the interest
rate being at RBC’s prime rate plus 2%. At year end the interest rate was 5%. The credit facility is non-revolving with a limit of
$7,500,000. At December 31st, 2012 the remaining credit limit was $1,308,362. At December 31st, 2012 there was $30,790
(2011 Nil) in deferred financing fees netted against the short term loan.
Principal payments are to be made from the net sales proceeds of the commercial construction project and are to be made no
later than December 31st, 2013. $313,948 was repaid during the year.
The $1,917,343 balance from December 31st, 2011 relating to a residential construction project was fully repaid in the year.

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The fair market values of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, short term loans, notes receivable,
promissory note, customer deposits and related party advances approximate their carrying values due to their short term
to maturity or capacity for prompt liquidation. The fair value of long term debt approximates its carrying value because the
interest rates float with market or are similar to market rates.
Credit risk

The Partnership is exposed to normal credit risk resulting from the possibility that a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument defaults on their financial obligations; if there is a concentration of transactions carried out with the same
counterparty; or if financial obligations which have similar economic characteristics such that they could be similarly
affected by changes in economic conditions. The Partnership’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of
credit risk relate primarily to accounts receivable. To mitigate the credit risk, the Partnership has accounts receivable widely
distributed among its customer base, performs regular credit assessments of its customers, provides allowances for potentially
uncollectible accounts, obtains advance deposits and requires many of its customers to pay rent at the beginning of each month.
The Partnership therefore believes that there is minimal credit risk associated with the collection of its accounts receivable.
Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. Changes in market interest rates may have an effect on the cash flows associated with some financial
assets and liabilities, known as cash flow risk, and on the fair value of other financial assets or liabilities, known as price risk.
The Partnership is exposed to interest rate risk with respect to its short term financial instruments all of which are expected
to be realized within one year. As described in note 5, a substantial portion of the Partnership’s long term debt bears interest
at floating rates. Fluctuations in these rates will impact the cost of financing incurred in the future. The Partnership’s various
loans have rates between 3% an 7% and maturing between 5 months and ten years.

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Partnership will not be able to meet its obligations as they fall due. In 2012 the Partnership
met its third party obligations, including all debt service requirements.
Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in foreign exchange rates. The Partnership is exposed to a small amount of currency risk because it does a small amount of
transactions in US dollars.

8. PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEPOSITS
2011

2012
Prepaid insurance

$

Prepaid property taxes

39,723

$

39,400

-

439

Utility deposits

10,529

10,529

Other

79,694

83,001

244,287

179,106

Deposits on property and equipment
$

374,233

$

312,475

9. LOANS RECEIVABLE
2011

2012
Mortgages receivable

$

Loans receivable
Advances to joint ventures

Less current portion
$

908,105

$

311,907

1,505,888

51,553

325,625

-

2,739,618

363,460

(566,236)

(36,977)

2,173,382

$

326,483
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9. LOANS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED)
(i) Mortgages receivable

Mortgages receivable represent advances made to vendors of properties sold by the Partnership. In all cases, security is
provided by the underlying property. Interest is charged at rates between 5% and 7%. The total interest earned on the loans
in the year was $20,840 (2011 - $6,529) The maximum exposure to the credit risk associated with the mortgages receivable
occurs if the borrowers defaults n repayment of the mortgages. Therefore, the carrying value of the mortgage receivable
balance represents the Partnership’s maximum exposure to the related credit risk without taking into account any collateral
or any other credit enhancements. There were no impairments or impairment provisions recorded on the mortgages receivable
as at December 31, 2012.
(ii) Loans receivable

Loans receivable are with third party borrowers. The terms of the loans do not exceed 5 years, with interest rates ranging
from nil to 12%. The total interest earned on the loans in the year was $ 51,297.10 (2011 - $1,048). The maximum exposure
to the credit risk associated with the loans receivable occurs if the borrower defaults on repayment of the mortgage. Therefore,
the carrying value of the loans receivable balance represents the Partnership’s maximum exposure to the related credit risk
without taking into account any collateral or any other credit enhancements. There were no impairments or impairment
provisions recorded on the loans receivable as at December 31, 2012.
(iii) Advances to Joint Ventures

Advances to Joint Ventures are made to assist working capital requirements. Interest is charged at 5% when other joint
venturers do not contribute their obligation. The total interest collected in the year was $11,312 (2011 nil).

10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Amounts due to/from related parties are non-interest bearing, payable on demand and have arisen from the sales of product
and provision of services and cash advances. Management has concluded that it is not practical to determine the fair value of
related party loans as there is no comparable market data.
During the year, the Partnership had the following transactions with parties that were either partners, employees or companies
controlled by partners or employees of the Partnership:
2011

2012
Received or recovery from:
Other fees – consists of miscellaneous payments received for services and
reimbursement for recoveries from joint ventures in which the Partnership has

$

-

$

155,934

$

232,733

$

38,860

proportionate interests and related companies
Management fees – received from a related company with common shareholders
Rent – received from a company controlled by an employee of the Partnership and
a joint venture in which the Partnership has a proportionate interest

128,268

-

1,260,687

-

24,687

-

Assets sold – the Partnership sold condominiums from its joint ventures in which it
has proportionate interests to one of its employees and to a company owned by
the wife of a board member
Financing charges and interest – received from a company controlled by an employee
of the Partnership on a short term loan
$

1,646,415

$

194,794

10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONTINUED)
2011

2012
Paid:
Management fees - paid to various joint ventures in which the Partnership has
proportionate interest and to a related company with common shareholders

$

Financing charges and interest – paid to various joint ventures in which the Partnership
has proportionate interests and to a board member of the Partnership
Asset purchased – the Partnership purchased a condominium from a joint venture in
which it has a proportionate interest
Finder fees – paid to a company of which an employee of the Partnership is a director
Other fees – includes contractor payments paid to employees, partners, or companies
controlled by employees of the Partnership
$

117,266

$

298,988

43,632

-

393.794

-

94,500

-

21,082

54,261

670,274

$

353,249

Loans
Advanced to employees of the Partnership and a company controlled by an employee
Loans received from a board member of the Partnership
$

354,687

-

1,000,000

-

1,354,687

$

-

The related party transactions occur in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange value (the
amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties), which approximates the arm’s length equivalent
value for services.
As at December 31, 2012, the Partnership had accounts receivable from related parties of $10,648 (2011 - $1,452).
As at December 31, 2012, the Partnership had accounts receivable from its joint venture of $326,939 for one of its
employees (2011 - nil).
As at December 31, 2012, the Partnership had an amount due from its joint venture partners of $370,989 (2011 - $14,457).
As at December 31, 2012, the Partnership had an amount due to its joint venture partners of $70,536 (2011 - nil).
As at December 31, 2012, the Partnership had accounts payable from related parties of $1,533 (2011 - $1,431.
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11. SEGMENTS

Hotels
Revenue

Rentals

Property

Property

Held

Under

For Sale

Development

716,940

463,283

-

-

102,392

1,282,615

1,429,397

847,004

18,375

862,393

(59,465)

3,097,704

Gains

-

3,674

602,334

608,051

-

1,214,059

Interest income

-

-

-

-

86,689

86,689

270,808

296,153

-

-

3,670

570,631

1,158,589

554,525

620,709

1,470,444

(927,288)

2,876,979

15,745,242 $

2,787,434 $

7,381,989 $

Property

Property

Net revenue (expense)

Interest expense
Net earnings (loss)
Property and equipment $

12,633,320 $

Hotels
Revenue

$

Amortization
Net revenue (expense)
Gains
Interest income
Interest expense
Net earnings (loss)
Property and equipment

$

Rentals

10,064,594 $

1,420,909 $

684,805

431,946

1,658,136

Held

Under

For Sale

Development

22,500 $

42,927 $

Total

1,410,455 $

$

862,393 $

Other

10,515,791 $

Amortization

18,375 $

2012

422,365 $

12,849,941

38,970,350

2011
(Restated)
Total

Other

- $

44,018 $

11,552,021

-

-

17,195

1,133,946

902,136

18,513

-

26,823

2,605,608

-

326,580

573,887

-

-

900,467

18,167

-

-

-

-

18,167

265,887

303,665

5,026

-

-

574,578

1,410,416

925,051

587,374

-

(936,718)

1,986,123

13,665,086 $

3,212,264 $

12,110,227 $

7,725,430 $

42,110 $

36,755,117

As at December 31, 2012, the Partnership had four reportable segments: hotels, rentals, property held for sale and property
under development. Hotel operations consist of room rental and food and beverage services. Rental properties consist of
commercial and residential properties held under long term lease. Property held for sale consists of residential properties and
commercial lots publicly available for sale. Property under development consists of lands and buildings in construction.

12. NOTE RECEIVABLE

During 2012, the Partnership received a promissory note receivable from a third party borrower in connection with the sale of
one of its properties. The note receivable is due on demand, non-interest bearing and is secured by a property formerly owned
by the Partnership. The credit risk associated with the note receivable occurs if the borrower defaults on the entire amount due
to the Partnership. See Note 14 Non-monetary Transactions for more details.

13. PARTNERS’ EQUITY

During the year, the Partnership amended the Partnership Agreement. At year end there are 21,029,970 new units outstanding
(2011 12,260,287 old units).

14. NON-MONETARY TRANSACTIONS

During 2009 and 2010, a non-cash transaction was completed with a third party which included the Partnership issuing
consideration of a promissory note payable in the amount of $70,000 and the right to apply this amount to the subsequent
acquisition of a further parcel of land by the third party.
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Partnership entered into a similar barter arrangement with the same third
party whereby the Partnership transferred title of the parcel of land mentioned in the above paragraph to the third party
and, in exchange, the third party agreed to transfer another condominium to the Partnership upon completion of said
condominium. The transaction is recorded at the fair value of the land and option transferred by the Partnership of $189,000.
The fair value of the land is based on the comparable market values for the land. In connection with this agreement, the
Partnership received consideration equal to a promissory note receivable of $169,338.
During 2011, this note was applied to purchase the Trades Center II from the same third party. The transaction is recorded
at the fair value of the land and option transferred by the Partnership of $195,000. The fair value of the land is based on the
comparable market values for the land. In connection with this agreement, the Partnership received consideration equal to
a promissory note receivable of $173,299 (Note 12). This is a noncash transaction.
During 2012, the Partnership netted the promissory note payable of $70,000 against the promissory note receivable of
$173,299 and incurred a further note payable of $25,622 when the purchase of Trades Centre II was completed resulting
in an outstanding balance due to the Partnership of $77,637 at year end.

15. CHANGES IN PRESENTATION OF COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s financial statement presentation.
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16. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
2011

2012
Interest paid, expensed

$

570,631

$

574,578

Interest paid, capitalized

$

193,648

$

75,299

Note receivable

$

77,637

$

173,299

Deferred revenue

$

-

$

50,587

Non cash investing and financing activities:

Promissory note payable

$

-

$

70,000

Vendor take back mortgage

$

733,126

$

219,919

Amortization of deferred financing fees

$

56,711

$

62,648

17. JOINT VENTURES

The financial statements include the Partnership’s proportionate interest in 4 (2011 - 2) joint ventures. All are located in the
Whitehorse area.
Name

Interest

Year of
Inception

Activity

Rivers Reach JV (44588 Yukon Inc.)

90%

Construction and sale of residential properties

2011

Titanium Way JV

67%

Lease of commercial properties

2008

Waterfront Station JV (45798 Yukon Inc.)

50%

Construction and leasing of commercial properties

2012

Titanium Way Storage Park JV

40%

Operation of a long term storage facility

2012

2011

2012
Cash

$

Accounts receivable
Government remittances receivable
Prepaid expenses

163,468

$

77,560

958,164

48,915

78,978

-

19,728

73,403

1,348,513

-

2,568,853

199,878

Property and equipment

2,149,492

1,741,582

Property under development

4,860,998

4,860,998

2,505

3,528

Inventory

Organization costs
$

10,026,250

$

6,805,986

17. JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
2011

2012
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

$

Government remittances payable
Other current liabilities
Short term debt
Long term debt

Equity

1,272,397

$

999,863

873

374

56,402

91,177

2,437,134

-

3,766,806

1,091,414

993,182

2,581,515

4,759,988

3,672,929

5,266,262

3,133,057

$

10,026,250

$

6,805,986

$

132,756

$

108,281

Revenue
Rentals
Gains

-

585,890
$

718,646

$

108,281

Expenses
Property

89,747

-

Amortization

59,998

-

Interest
Expenses

44,634

-

194,379

78,365

Net income for the year

$

398,888

$

29,916

Cash flows from operating activities

$

(1,590,337)

$

964,100

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities

$

3,040,331

$

(5,295,055)

Cash flows from investing activities

$

(940,466)

$

4,396,479

18. RESTATEMENT

In the prior year, deferred revenue and property under development were both understated by $528,447 on the balance sheet. The Partnership
recorded a disposition of land at fair market value instead of at historical cost, to a joint venture which the Partnership has an interest in. The prior
year balances have been restated to correct for this error. The result is that in the 2011 balance sheet, property under development and deferred
revenue have both been increased by $528,447. This resulted in no change to 2011 net income or closing partners’ equity.
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